IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LESEAN COLLINS

Appellant,

Electronically Filed May 25 2016 09:12 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 69269

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Kathleen Delaney, District Judge District Court No. C252804

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JoNell Thomas State Bar #4771 Chief Deputy Special Public Defender David M. Schieck State Bar #0824 Special Public Defender 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, NV 89155 (702) 455-6265 Attorneys for Lesean Collins

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, of one count of murder and one count of robbery. The district court sentenced Appellant Lesean Collins to serve a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, to be served consecutively to the sentence imposed in District Court Case No. C253455, and a concurrent term of 72 to 180 months. 10 App. 1926. The judgment of conviction was filed on November 24, 2015. 10 App. 1925. A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 25, 2015. 10 App. 1927. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015.

II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

This appeal involves a sentences of life without the possibility of parole, following a jury trial, for convictions for murder and robbery. The issues presented are of a constitutional dimension. This appeal presents an important issue regarding a detective's opinion of the charges and whether disqualification of the prosecutor's office was required. It also addresses exclusion of the defendant from the courtroom on the first day of trial, which has not been addressed by this Court. Lesean submits that pursuant to NRAP 17, this case should be assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the judgment is invalid because the district court allowed impermissible testimony by a detective about his opinion on whether Lesean was guilty.
- B. Whether the judgment must be reversed because of the district court's refusal to instruct on voluntary manslaughter.
- C. Whether the district court improperly denied the motion to disqualify the Office of the Clark County District Attorney.
- D. Whether there is insufficient evidence to support the convictions.
- E. Whether Lesean was improperly prohibited from attending the first day of trial.
- F. Whether the conviction should be reversed based upon cumulative error.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On March 25, 2009, the State charged Appellant Lesean Collins with one count of murder and one count of robbery. 1 App. 1-2. It alleged that Lesean killed Brandi Payton by asphyxiation and/or blunt force trauma and/or manner and means unknown and that the killing was deliberate and premeditated and/or committed during the commission or attempted commission of a robbery. 1 App. 1-2. Lesean entered a plea of not guilty. 1 App. 6.

Lesean filed a motion to exclude other bad acts, character evidence, and irrelevant prior criminal activity. 1 App. 120. The State opposed the motion and

indicated that it intended to present evidence that Lesean may have used drugs in the past if the door was opened to that issue. 2 App. 282-85.

On July 9, 2014, during a status check before the district court, Lesean' counsel informed the district court that there was a potential problem because Lesean had a prior arson case, evidence of which he believed the State would seek to introduce at trial, for which a post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus was pending. 2 App. 415, 703. The State informed the district court of its intent to introduce the evidence and a hearing was held. 3 App. 525. The district court denied the motion to exclude the evidence. 4 App. 703. Details are discussed below.

On August 27, 2014, the district court held a status check hearing.¹ 3 App. 689. There was a discussion concerning Lesean's clothing choice for trial. 3 App. 698. On July 17, 2015, during a court appearance, Lesean indicated to his counsel that he did not want to appear at trial. 4 App. 766. Trial began on July 27, 2015. 4 App. 769. Lesean stated his desire to wear his jail clothing and chains for trial. 4 App. 771. Ultimately, it was decided that Lesean would wear his jail clothing, but not chains. 4 App. 773. Due to continuing issues over clothing and chains the district court

¹Proceedings concerning a motion to disqualify defense counsel were also held. 3 App. 681. As these and other issues concerning Lesean's request for new counsel involve the office of undersigned counsel, the are not addressed here but are instead appropriately raised in a post-conviction petition.

ordered Lesean removed from the courtroom during the initial examination of jurors. 4 App. 780. Details are discussed below.

Prior to opening statements, and outside the presence of the jury, the parties and district court addressed whether defense counsel could elicit testimony about Brandi's actions of selling drugs with Lesean. 6 App. 1124. The State argued that the evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. 6 App. 1124. Lesean's counsel noted that Detective Mogg interviewed witnesses at the time Brandi was missing and learned from Rufus Hicks that she sold sherm sticks during that period of time. 6 App. 1125. Rufus could not be located at the time of trial. 6 App. 1126. The Court found that absent some exception to the hearsay rule, Mogg would not be able to testify as to what Rufus told him. 6 App. 1126. Theresa Williams was another witness who could provide this information. 6 App. 1127. Lesean's ex-girlfriend, Shalana, also knew about this activity by Lesean and Brandi. 6 App. 1130. Lesean's counsel argued that this was res gestae evidence, not bad act evidence. 6 App. 1127. The district court found that the evidence was relevant as a bad act, but not as res gestae evidence. 6 App. 1132.

Lesean submitted written objections to the State's proposed jury instructions. 8 App. 1523. He objected to the lack of instruction on voluntary and involuntary manslaughter. 8 App. 1523. He proposed jury instructions, including instructions on voluntary and involuntary manslaughter. 8 App. 1527, 1534-42. The district court refused to give the manslaughter instructions. 10 App. 1747-48. Jury instructions were filed. 10 App. 1843.

On August 12, 2015, the jury found Lesean guilty of first degree murder and guilty of robbery. 10 App. 1878. The sentencing hearing took place on November 18, 2015. 10 App. 1902. The district court imposed a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, to be served consecutively to the term imposed in case C253455, and a concurrent term of 72 to 180 months. 10 App. 1922.

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

Amber Poole and Brandi Payton were friends and talked by phone a few days after August 30, 2008. 6 App. 1170-1175. They briefly talked around 3:30 p.m., and Amber expected Brandi to call her back. 6 App. 1173. Amber learned through calls from Brandi's sister that something had happened to Brandi. 6 App. 1174. Amber talked by phone with Brandi's boyfriend, Rufus Hicks, while Brandi was missing but before her body had been found. 6 App. 1176. Everything seemed normal in the text messages that Brandi and Amber exchanged that day. 6 App. 1178-1180.

Theresa Williams knew Brandi in 2008. 6 App. 1182. They were friends and dealt drugs together. 6 App. 1183. She had known Brandi for about a year and they communicated two or three times a week. 6 App. 1183-1191. Theresa would call

Brandi for drugs and then they would meet for the exchange. 6 App. 1183, 1190. Brandi usually stayed in her car and was cautious about the way she was dealing drugs. 6 App. 1191. Brandi usually drove rental cars and usually changed vehicles more than once a month. 6 App. 1192. Theresa bought sherm sticks from Brandi, which is essentially a cannabis cigarette dipped in liquid PCP. 6 App. 1193. Theresa did not know if Brandi sold other kinds of drugs. 6 App. 1193. Theresa learned that no one had heard from Brandi, which was unusual. 6 App. 1185. She talked with Lesean who was in a car with Donita Beasley. 6 App. 1185-86. Later, Lesean called Theresa and asked about Brandi's whereabouts, asked if anyone had seen her, asked what the street was saying, and asked if anybody had found her. 6 App. 1188, 1195. He said that he was concerned and had been looking for her. 6 App. 1188. Theresa claimed that Lesean had an argument with Brandi before she came up missing and with his history of being in trouble, he would be known as a suspect. 6 App. 1189, 1195. He said he would have to delete the messages on his phone from Brandi because the argument that they had back and forth. 6 App. 1189.

Donita Beasley has known Lesean for 20 years and they are good friends. 6 App. 1200. Donita knows Shalana, who is the mother of Lesean's children, and knew Brandi. 6 App. 1201. Lesean thought of Brandi as a sister. 6 App. 1201, 1209. Donita met Brandi two or three days before learning that Brandi was deceased. 6 App. 1202. They met when Lesean asked for a ride to the park to meet Brandi. 6 App. 1203, 1209. Lesean introduced them and then walked off into the park with Brandi. 6 App. 1203. They came back 10 or 15 minutes later. 6 App. 1204. Everything seemed fine between them. 6 App. 1209. Brandi returned to her car and Lesean left in Donita's car. 6 App. 1204. Donita gave Lesean a cell phone, but she did not recall when. 6 App. 1204. The bill remained in her name. 6 App. 1205.

Gloria Payton (Sheri) is Brandi's older sister. 6 App. 1224. In September of 2008, they lived in apartments next door to each other and saw each other every day. 6 App. 1226; 7 App. 1262. Brandi lived with Rufus and they had lived together for a couple of years. 7 App. 1263. On September 2nd, Brandi and Sheri talked to each other by telephone in the morning. 6 App. 1227; 7 App. 1264. Brandi planned to meet Sheri for her daughter's cheerleading practice that evening. 6 App. 1228; 7 App. 1264. They talked by phone after 1:00, but before 3:00, about a fax. 6 App. 1228; 7 App. 1265. Brandi said she was busy on the other line and said she would call her back. 6 App. 1229. Sheri called from Brandi's apartment and either used the house phone or Rufus's phone. 7 App. 1268. Rufus was at the apartment that day. 7 App. 1267. Sheri did not see or hear from Brandi again. 6 App. 1229; 7 App. 1270. Sheri tried to call Brandi, but her calls went straight to voice mail. 6 App. 1230, 1271. Brandi had two or three phones. 6 App. 1230.

On September 3rd, Sheri went to the police department and tried to make a missing person's report, but the police department said they would need evidence that she was missing. 6 App. 1232; 7 App. 1276. Sheri went to Avis, to see if Brandi had turned in her rental car. 6 App. 1233. Brandi had rented cars for about a year and Sheri believed she always returned them on time. 6 App. 1233; 7 App. 1274. She sometimes rented cars for a couple of weeks and sometimes for a month. 7 App. 1274. She had only had her current car for a couple of days. 7 App. 1276. Avis told her that the car had not been returned. 6 App. 1234. Sheri went to Brandi's house but did not see that anything was missing. 6 App. 1234. She went back to the North Las Vegas Police Department and they let her fill out a missing persons report. 6 App. 1235. Rufus went with her on both visits to the police department and her mother went to one and possibly the second. 7 App. 1277. Sheri did not tell the police that Brandi was dealing drugs. 7 App. 1277.

Sheri was notified that Brandi's body had been found on September 6, 2008. 6 App. 1237. She provided police officers with a list of Brandi's friends, which included Lesean, and family members, and gave them some of Brandi's cell phone numbers. 6 App. 1239, 1274. Sheri identified some jewelry which was shown in a photograph of Brandi. 7 App. 1259. Brandi usually wore several necklaces, bracelets, and rings. 7 App. 1260. She had her nails done every two weeks. 7 App. 1261. They were very colorful and long. 7 App. 1261.

Sheri claimed she did not know if Rufus also dealt drugs, but she did not know him to have a job. 7 App. 1278. Sheri did not know of any problems between Brandi and Rufus. 7 App. 1278. Rufus did not attend Brandi's funeral. 7 App. 1278. Sheri kept in touch with him for a short period of time, but they have not had further contact. 7 App. 1278.

On September 6, 2008, Ben Grande and Don Davison were four-wheeling outside of Las Vegas, on a dirt road near Mount Charleston. 6 App. 1211, 1215. They walked around, discovered a body, and called 911. 6 App. 1216. They saw drag marks, backed off, and waited for the police. 6 App. 1217. The body was about 10 yards off of Highway 156. 6 App. 1221.

Raymond Clark from Sprint testified about cell phone records. 7 App. 1283-1300. The records for Brandi's phone on September 2, 2008, showed significant cell phone activity in the morning and early afternoon hours. 7 App. 1300. Exhibit 109 showed a cell tower near 1519 Laguna Palms. 7 App. 1301. At 1:51 p.m., there was a 52 minute phone call, during which she received 3 different phone calls, which were answered. 7 App. 1303. The call ended at 2:43 p.m., and was transmitting from cell tower 239. 7 App. 1303. Tower 144 was closer to 1519 Laguna Palms. 7 App. 1304. A cell call goes to the tower with the strongest signal, not the closest tower. 7 App. 1305. During the 52 minute call, the phone also transmitted to Sprint tower 144. 7 App. 1305. Beginning at 3:52 p.m., a phone call went to voice mail and all subsequent calls went to voice mail, suggesting that the phone was turned off or the battery died. 7 App. 1306.

Exhibit 106 showed the records for number 702-884-1539. 7 App. 1308. The subscriber was Donita Beasley. 7 App. 1309. Clark explained records from September 2, 2008. 7 App. 1310. Between 2:23 p.m. and 4:15 p.m., the phone hit off of Tower 144 and Tower 239. 7 App. 1311. There was no activity on this phone from 2:35 p.m. to 4:09 p.m. 7 App. 1312. The phone hit tower 239 at both of those times. 7 App. 1312. At 7:42 p.m., the phone pinged off of a tower west of 1519 Laguna Palms, and then northwest along US Route 95.7 App. 1312-15. Between 7:42 and 8:56 pm, there were several phone calls. 7 App. 1315. Later, it appeared that the phone came back, towards Las Vegas. 7 App. 1315. Tower 389 is near State Route 156. 7 App. 1316. On cross-examination, Clark acknowledged that the cell information provided goes to a general area where the cell phone is located. 7 App. 1331. Records now are more precise than those in 2008. 7 App. 1332. Different cell phones have difference ranges. 7 App. 1333. Technical information about the cell towers was not provided. 7 App. 1333. There are a couple hundred cell towers for Las Vegas and they have different ranges depending on population density. 7 App. 1335. How calls can transfer from one tower to the next and selection of the towers varies based on different factors. 7 App. 1335-39. Structures, mountains, weather and other information can also impact the selection of the tower. 7 App. 1339. There were calls at 1:37 p.m., 1:38 p.m., and 1:45 p.m., showing hits off of Tower 121, which is at 130 West Owens. 7 App. 1341. At 1:46 p.m., there was a call that pinged Tower 351, which is at 200 South First Street, which is the Golden Nugget parking garage. 7 App. 1341-42. There was also a ping at Tower 40, at 400 West Carey, at 1:45 p.m. 7 App. 1342. This would happen because the Golden Nugget had the strongest signal. 7 App. 1342.

Shalana Eddins, who is the mother of Lesean's five children, testified that she had known Lesean for 19 years. 7 App. 1345, 1373. In September of 2008, Shalana lived at 1519 Laguna Palms in North Las Vegas, with her children. 7 App. 1346. Lesean sometimes stayed at the house and he kept clothes there. 7 App. 1346. He took care of their 4-year-old child at the house while Shalana was at work.² 7 App. 1347, 1376. He drove the older children to and from school. 7 App. 1375.

Shalana knew that Lesean thought of Brandi as a sister. 7 App. 1382. Shalana was present on an unknown date when Brandi called Lesean. 7 App. 1382. The conversation was fine, but he was upset because of the surprise of learning that she knew his phone number. 7 App. 1382. Lesean used the term "sister" favorably when

² The youngest child was born after September of 2008.

he talked about Brandi. 7 App. 1382.

On September 2, 2008, Shalana worked from 8:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 7 App. 1347. She usually called home from work and nothing stood out as being out of the ordinary when she called that day. 7 App. 1384. Lesean picked her up that evening in a Ford Expedition. 7 App. 1348. He had their four kids in the car, along with some helium balloons. App. 1377. Lesean said he had a birthday present for her. 7 App. 1348. It was a bracelet, necklace, and a ceramic pig. 7 App. 1349. The necklace and bracelet looked like a Rolex watch. 7 App. 1349. They did not appear to be new. 7 App. 1349. Lesean said he bought it from a pawn shop for \$2,000. 7 App. 1349. She did not see a pawn shop receipt. 7 App. 1350. Shalana did not take the presents. 7 App. 1350. Lesean wore a rope necklace with a cross on it, which Shalana had not seen before. 7 App. 1367. They had argued that day, which was not unusual, and she was not happy with him when he picked her up because of an earlier argument. 7 App. 1378. She did not want anything to do with the jewelry, pig, or balloons because of their argument. 7 App. 1378. Lesean took the jewelry back and she did not see it again. 7 App. 1379. After work, they went to Henderson to pick her mom up and then stopped for food. 7 App. 1350, 1380. They then went home. 7 App. 1351. Lesean drove the car. 7 App. 1351. Her car was usually parked on the left side of the garage. 7 App. 1351. On that day, a gold Hyundai was parked in the garage. 7 App. 1351. Lesean said that Brandi had rented him a car. 7 App. 1352.

Lesean told Shalana that there was a bleach stain in the carpet because he did an oil change and spilled some oil on the carpet. 7 App. 1353, 1382. During the time that she knew him, she had not seen him do an oil change on his own, but she did see him do an oil change with his dad. 7 App. 1353, 1383. She did not see an oil pan or a bottle of oil. 7 App. 1353. When they entered the house, she saw the bleach stain in the front of the laundry room area. 7 App. 1353-55. She saw drops on the side panel of the laundry room wall. 7 App. 1355. After Lesean was gone, Shalana found a colorful acrylic fingernail inside the house. 7 App. 1355-56, 1384-85. Lesean told her by phone that the nail belonged to Brandi. 7 App. 1356, 1385. Shalana threw away the fingernail. 7 App. 1386. When detectives showed her a photograph of fingernails she told them that was not the fingernail she saw. 7 App. 1386. Her recollection had not changed. 7 App. 1386.

At some point, Lesean left the house in the Hyundai. 7 App. 1347. He said he was going to his friend Tidy, to pick up the garage opener which was missing from Shalana's house. 7 App. 1357, 1387. It had been missing for several days and been the subject of an argument. 7 App. 1385. Shalana called Tidy and then called Lesean. 7 App. 1359. Lesean said he was driving to Stateline. 7 App. 1359. When she called Lesean, she called him at 702-884-1539. 7 App. 1361. Shalana and Lesean argued

while they were on the phone. 7 App. 1361. Later, Shalana went to the car to look for a blanket and saw papers that belonged to Brandi. 7 App. 1363. She went through Lesean's wallet and found a rental car receipt. 7 App. 1363. She woke up during the night, went outside, and found Lesean outside washing the car in the driveway. 7 App. 1364, 1387. It was not unusual for Lesean to wash a car at night. 7 App. 1387.

Early the next morning, around 2:30 a.m., Shalana woke early to take her mother to the bus stop. 7 App. 1364. Lesean was in the car, in the driveway, asleep. 7 App. 1364, 1388. Around 3:00 a.m., he called and said that the police were chasing him. 7 App. 1365. He wanted her to pick him up within the neighborhood. 7 App. 1365. The Hyundai was parked in a driveway. 7 App. 1365. They went back to the house on Laguna Palms. 7 App. 1365. Lesean said he did not know why the police were there, so he left the house. 7 App. 1366. Later, Lesean said that he returned the Hyundai on Thursday. 7 App. 1368. He said that he last spoke to Brandi on Tuesday. 7 App. 1368. Later, Shalana found a headrest, in new packaging, for a Hyundai, in her garage. 7 App. 1369.

Lesean asked her to pawn the rope necklace and cross. 7 App. 1369. The pawn shop would not accept the necklace, but they accepted the cross for \$25. 7 App. 1369, 1390.

Shalana learned that Brandi was found dead. 7 App. 1369. She told the police

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