IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LESEAN COLLINS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 25 2016 11:15 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 69269

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONELL THOMAS Nevada State Bar #004771 Chief Deputy Special Public Defender 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-6265 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Id. at 669, 6 P.3d at 484-85. The testimony in this case does not even rise to the level

of the opinion testimony in Cordova and was entirely admissible.

Therefore, Collins has failed to establish that the District Court's ruling on

Detective Mogg's testimony was error.²

Although the State contends that there was no error, any error was clearly

harmless. While Collins alleges that the error must be assessed under the "harmless-

² To the extent that Collins complains that the District Court mentioned that evidence would be coming from another witness, he fails to provide any cogent argument as to why this was error. <u>Maresca v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."). Accordingly, this Court should reject this unsupported argument.

In any event, nothing about the District Court's comment ("But we have an understanding that there is evidence forthcoming from a later witness.") implied that "the DNA evidence was accurate" or "told the jury that the court believed DNA evidence existed," contrary to Collins' contentions. 8 AA 1497-99.

beyond-a-reasonable-doubt" standard, this standard is inappropriate because there is no potential constitutional violation inherent in the District Court's decision. Instead, any error is nonconstitutional, as <u>Cordova</u> does not rely upon constitutional law, but rather "Nevada case law." <u>Cordova</u>, 116 Nev. at 669, 6 P.3d at 485. Collins' mere citation to constitutional amendments is insufficient to cogently allege a constitutional error. <u>See Edwards</u>, 122 Nev. at 330 n.38, 130 P.3d at 1288 n.38; <u>see</u> NRAP 28(a)(9)(A).

Nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. <u>Knipes</u>, 124 Nev. at 935, 192 P.3d at 1183. Under any standard, the error was harmless because each of the pieces of evidence on which Detective Mogg based his decision to arrest Collins was introduced into evidence at some point in the trial, whether before or after. 7 AA 1300-16, 8 AA 1492-93, 9 AA 1582-88, 1630, 1663, 1700-01.

That some items of evidence were introduced after Mogg's testimony was given is inconsequential. The jury had before it each item of evidence and could thus determine for itself whether that body of evidence warranted a guilty verdict. Accordingly, any error was harmless and reversal is unwarranted.

///

///

21

II The District Court Did Not Err in Rejecting Collins' Voluntary Manslaughter Instruction

Collins alleges that his Judgment of Conviction is infirm because the District Court declined to give a proposed instruction on voluntary manslaughter. Opening Brief at 36-40.

This claim is without merit. This Court reviews a district court's decisions in settling jury instructions for an abuse of discretion or judicial error. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). An abuse of discretion occurs if a district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason. Id. In Nevada, a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on a lesserincluded offense "if there is any evidence at all, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which the defendant might be convicted" of that offense. Lisby v. State, 82 Nev. 183, 188, 414 P.2d 592, 595 (1966). Conversely, "if the prosecution has met its burden of proof on the greater offense and there is no evidence at the trial tending to reduce the greater offense, an instruction on a lesser included offense may properly be refused." Lisby, 82 Nev. at 188, 414 P.2d at 595 (emphasis omitted); see also Holbrook, 90 Nev. at 97, 518 P.2d at 1243; State v. Enkhouse, 40 Nev. 1, 6, 160 P. 23, 25 (1916).

A trial court is justified in refusing to give an instruction on the crime of manslaughter if there is no evidence to support such an instruction. <u>Graves v. State</u>,

84 Nev. 262, 266, 439 P.2d 476, 478 (1968). The presence of malice precludes an instruction on the crime of manslaughter. <u>Id.</u>

While Collins claims that an alleged lack of "meaningful evidence whatsoever concerning the time before Brandi's death" and the fact that there could have been an argument regarding "drug deals," no evidence was presented that established a killing done in the heat of passion following adequate provocation, and Collins' arguments rise to nothing but naked speculation.

"In cases of voluntary manslaughter, there must be a serious and highly provoking injury inflicted upon the person killing, sufficient to excite an **irresistible passion in a reasonable person**, or an attempt by the person killed to commit a serious personal injury on the person killing." NRS 200.050. While a serious and highly provoking injury need not be a direct physical assault on the accused, neither slight provocation nor an assault of a trivial nature will reduce a homicide from murder to manslaughter. Roberts v. State, 102 Nev. 170, 174, 717 P.2d 1115, 1117 (1986) (emphasis added); State v. Fisko, 58 Nev. 65, 75, 70 P.2d 1113, 1116 (1938), overruled on other grounds by Fox v. State, 73 Nev. 241, 247, 316 P.2d 924, 927 (1957). Here, even if there was evidence of an argument between Payton and Collins, this is inadequate to present a theory that there was a serious and highly provoking injury sufficient to excite an irresistible passion in a reasonable person. An argument over drugs would not be sufficient to excite irresistible passion in a reasonable person. And there was no evidence otherwise that the killing was performed in the heat of passion; rather, the evidence suggests a well-planned murder-robbery done with premeditation and deliberation.

Dr. Simms' findings in regard to the quasi-stellate fracture indicate that Collins hit Brandi over the head with a pipe-like object. 8 AA 1417-20. Simms testified that this would not have killed Brandi – instead, some subsequent action would have had to been taken to kill her. 8 AA 1420-21. These facts thus indicate that the killing was not done in the heat of passion, because they show the killer took additional steps after the blunt force trauma (including possibly asphyxiation) to kill Brandi).

Brandi's blood in the Hyundai shows that Collins put her in the car. 9 AA 1663, 1700-01. And the cell phone records show that Brandi was last at Collins' residence before her phone was turned off, and Collins that Collins drove to the area where Brandi's body was found later that evening. 7 AA 1300-16. Brandi's pocket was turned inside out when her body was found, and she had no identification or purse and the majority of her jewelry was gone. 8 AA 1459-61. Collins gave that jewelry to Eddins *the same day* he drove to the area where Brandi was found. 8 AA 1492-93.

These facts do not indicate an impassioned killing; they indicate cold-blooded and premeditated actions committed to rob Brandi of her jewelry and car. Accordingly, no voluntary manslaughter instruction was warranted.

Collins makes multiple arguments within this section of his Opening Brief that do not show why a voluntary manslaughter instruction was allegedly warranted, but rather complain of insufficiency of the evidence. These arguments are irrelevant to whether a voluntary manslaughter instruction was warranted, and Collins' challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence will be addressed *infra*.

Although the State does not concede error, any error in not giving the instruction was harmless, based on the absence of any real evidence of a killing made in the heat of passion, and Collins' actions following the killing, which give rise to an inference that he committed the crime in a premeditated manner and during a robbery. This evidence includes the jewelry he gave to Eddins the day Brandi went missing, the statements Collins made to Eddins and Theresa, his washing the Hyundai in the early morning hours of September 3, and his giving chase to law enforcement when approached. 6 AA 1188-89, 7 AA 1352, 1363-64, 1371, 8 AA 1492-93, 9 AA 1585-88. Therefore, any error was harmless and reversal is unwarranted.

///

///

Ш

Collins' Claim Concerning Disqualification of the Clark County District Attorney's Office is Barred by the Doctrine of Law of the Case

Collins claims that the District Court erred in denying his Motion to Disqualify the Clark County District Attorney's Office ("CCDA") because the attorneys who represented him in a prior arson case, Tierra Jones and Abigail Frierson, were employed at CCDA at the time of this murder prosecution. Opening Brief at 41-54.

What Collins fails to mention is that he sought extraordinary relief from the Nevada Supreme Court as to the denial of the Motion to Disqualify. 1 RA 1-50. Notably, the Nevada Supreme Court found no conflict of interest warranted disqualification:

> As to Collins' challenge to the district court's denial of his motion for disqualification, this court has held that "mandamus is the appropriate vehicle for challenging attorney disqualification rulings." State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Zogheib), 130 Nev. _, _, 321 P.3d 882, 884 (2014). "The disqualification of a prosecutor's office rests with the sound discretion of the district court," Collier v. Legakes, 98 Nev. 307, 309, 646 P.2d 1219, 1220 (1982), overruled on other grounds by Zogheib, 130 Nev. at 321 P.3d at 886, but "where the district court has exercised its discretion, mandamus is available only to control an arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion," Zogheib, 130 Nev. at , 321 P.3d at 884. See State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Armstrong), 127 Nev. , , 267 P. 3d 777, 780 (2011) (defining arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion). We conclude that extraordinary relief is not warranted.

Collins argues that his former attorneys' representation of him in his arson case creates a conflict of interest due to their employment with the CCDA's Office and that conflict of interest must be imputed to the CCDA's Office. The core of his argument is that his former attorneys will likely participate in post-conviction proceedings related to his arson conviction that are currently pending in district court—namely by testifying at an evidentiary hearing and that their employment with the CCDA's Office calls into question their credibility and bias because their testimony might be influenced by pressure to protect their jobs and career advancement given the CCDA's desire to secure a conviction at Collins' murder trial and efforts to ensure that his arson conviction is upheld.

We must first consider whether Collins has established that his former attorneys' employment with the CCDA's Office created a conflict of interest due to their prior representation of him in his arson case. We conclude that he has not. RPC 1.9(a) provides: "A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing." Collins has presented nothing establishing that the arson conviction is the "same or substantially related" to the murder prosecution. That the State intends to present evidence concerning his arson conviction is not a sufficient link to establish a conflict of interest under the rules. See Waid v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 121 Nev. 605, 610, 119 P.3d 1219, 1223 (2005) ("A superficial similarity between the two matters is not sufficient to warrant disqualification."). Because Collins has not satisfied his burden of establishing that his arson case is the "same or substantially related" to the murder prosecution, he cannot show that a conflict of interest and therefore disgualification of the CCDA's Office is unwarranted. See Robbins v. Gillock, 109 Nev. 1015, 1017, 862 P.2d 1195, 1197 (1993) (observing that

burden of proving two matters are "same or substantially related" rests on party seeking disqualification and "that party must have evidence to buttress the claim that a conflict exists").

Even assuming that a conflict of interest exists, extraordinary relief is not warranted. As Zogheib instructs, "an individual prosecutor's conflict of interest may be imputed to the prosecutor's entire office in extreme cases," but "the appropriate inquiry is whether the conflict would render it unlikely that the defendant would receive a fair trial unless the entire prosecutor's office is disqualified from prosecuting the case." 130 Nev. at _, 321 P.3d at 886. Collins has not made this showing. Again, the arson and murder prosecutions are unrelated and no argument he advances suggests that it is unlikely that he will receive a fair trial in his murder case simply because his former attorneys in his arson case are employed by the CCDA's Office and he has a pending post-conviction proceeding in which former counsel might participate as witnesses.

Moreover, the impetus behind his disqualification motion—his former attorneys' credibility and bias relative to the post-conviction proceedings in his arson case—will exist even if the CCDA's Office is disqualified in this case. Disqualifying the CCDA's Office in this case will not remedy those concerns. Issues of bias and credibility concerning his former attorneys are irrelevant to his murder prosecution and may be appropriately vetted in post-conviction proceedings related to his arson case.

1 RA 51-56. The Court also determined that because Collins could not show a

conflict of interest, an evidentiary hearing was unwarranted:

Collins argues that the district court erred by denying his disqualification motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. We conclude that he failed to show that the

district court manifestly abused its discretion in this regard, as he failed to make an adequate showing that disgualification was necessary such that an evidentiary hearing was warranted. He also argues that the CCDA's Office has not complied with the screening and notice requirements mandated by RPC 1.11. Because we conclude that Collins failed to show that his former attorneys had a conflict of interest, the screening and notice requirements under RPC 1.11, are irrelevant, assuming that provision applies here. We note that the record indicates that the CCDA's Office has undertaken screening measures and Collins' former attorneys have not communicated with the prosecutors involved in the murder prosecution about the murder case. We further reject Collins' contention that the district court manifestly abused its discretion orally denying by his disgualification motion before receiving affidavits confirming what it believed was true from the pleadings that Collins' former attorneys had no contact with the prosecutors involved in the murder prosecution. Nothing in the district court's comments suggest that it would not have reconsidered its oral ruling had the affidavits revealed contact between former counsel and the prosecuting attorneys or some violation of the screening measures.

1 RA 55-56. This issue in the instant appeal is thus controlled by the doctrine of law of the case.

Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 884, 34 P.3d 519, 535 (2001); <u>Hall v.</u> <u>State</u>, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975); <u>see also Valerio v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 383, 386, 915 P.2d 874, 876 (1996); <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 860

P.2d 710 (1993). A defendant cannot avoid the doctrine of law of the case by a more detailed and precisely focused argument. <u>Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798-99; <u>see also Pertgen v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 557, 557-58, 875 P.2d 316, 362 (1994).

Here, Collins' discussion of the "conflict" he alleges differs little from his argument within his Petition for Writ of Mandamus or, in the Alternative, Writ of Prohibition. <u>Compare</u> 1 RA 24 <u>with</u> Opening Brief at 41-42; 1 RA 25 <u>with</u> 44; 1 RA 26-44 <u>with</u> 45-54. To the extent the argument in the Opening Brief differs, it does not warrant overcoming the doctrine of law of the case because it offers no new facts that would change the Nevada Supreme Court's previous determination. <u>Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798-99. If anything, the fact that the State elected not to present evidence of the prior arson case reduces the possibility of a conflict of interest. 5 AA 549.

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